THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS  
Edward B. Cottingham, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-GS-26-00859  
Appellate Case No. 2012-213631

---

RECEIVED  
MAR 25 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

The State, ..... Respondent,

v.

Rickey Mazique, ..... Appellant.

---

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

J. Falkner Wilkes (SC Bar #12893)  
114 Whitsett Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 282-1292  
(864) 271-6035 (facsimile)

*Counsel for Appellant*

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS  
Edward B. Cottingham, Circuit Court Judge

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the court err in failing to conduct a timely and adequate inquiry as to the Appellant's Motion for the appointment of substitute counsel?
2. Was the Appellant was denied the right to self representation at a critical stage of the proceedings?
3. Was the state's flagrant and repeated comments to the jury where highly prejudicial and inflammatory and intended to take advantage of self-represented Appellant?
4. Was it error for the court to deny the Appellant's request to require state to offer the entire audio of Appellant's police interview?
5. Was it error for the court to refuse the Appellant's request to require the state to provide the Appellant a copy of the officer's handwritten notes for cross-examination?
6. Did the court unduly limit the Appellant's right to effective cross examination of officers?
7. Was it error for the court to refuse to make pre-trial hearing transcript of officer's testimony available for Appellant to use at trial for cross-examination.
8. Was it error for the court to refuse to allow the Appellant to use witness's pending charges to examine for bias, motive, etc.
9. Does the cumulative effect of the court's errors require reversal of the Appellant's conviction.
10. Do the errors above constitute reversible error?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Rickey Mazique, was indicted for Armed Robbery by the Horry County Grand Jury. A pre-trial hearing was held on November 8, 2012. A jury trial was held on November 15-16, 2012, the Honorable Edward B. Cottingham presiding. The Appellant was represented by initially by Melinda A. Knowles at the pre-trial hearing and by Melinda A. Knowles and James C. Galmore at the start of the trial. On the day of the trial and prior to the selection of the jury, the Appellant was allowed to proceed self-represented. Galmore and Knowles were required to sit with the Appellant to assist if requested by the Appellant. The Appellant proceeded throughout the trial and sentencing self-represented. The State was represented by Joshua D. Holford and Bradley C. Richardson at trial. Brenda R. Babb was the court reporter for the pre-trial hearing and trial of the case. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on the charge of armed robbery. The Appellant was sentenced to twenty-five years incarceration. The Appellant timely filed notice of appeal. J. Falkner Wilkes substituted as counsel prior to briefing of the case and represents the Appellant on the appeal of this case.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. IN LIGHT OF THE APPELLANT'S TIMELY MOTION THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO CONDUCT A PROPER HEARING AND APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE COUNSEL.**

The Appellant's case was set for trial the week of November 8, 2012. Due to some conflict, the exact nature of which is unclear from the record, the trial was rescheduled for the following week. On November 8<sup>th</sup> the court heard a limited number of pretrial motions. During the hearing the Solicitor announced that the State would be proceeding to trial the following week only on the armed robbery charge. R. 15. At the pre-trial hearing the Appellant moved the court to relieve his attorney (Knowles) and have another attorney appointed. R. 15, l. 20-21. The court summarily denied the motion without inquiry. R. 16, l. 4-5. The Appellant, arguing his own motion, was quick to recognize and point out that the court had ruled without even hearing his grounds for the motion. R. 16, l. 11-16. The court indicated that it would listen to the Appellant's grounds but then cut the Appellant off before he finished. R. 16, l. 20-24. The trial judge never conducted a proper inquiry into the basis for the Appellant's motion to have new counsel appointed.

In the Appellant's case the trial court's failure to conduct a thorough inquiry resulted in a lack of record for this Court to affirm the trial court's denial of the Appellant's motion. It was the trial court's duty to create a record when requested and the failure to do so has prejudiced the Appellant. When a defendant raises a seemingly substantial complaint about counsel, the judge "has an obligation to inquire thoroughly into the factual basis of defendant's dissatisfaction." Hart, 557 F.2d at 163; *see also* Hudson v. Rushen, 686 F.2d 826, 829 (9th Cir. 1982), *cert. denied*, 461 U.S. 916, 103 S.Ct. 1896, 77 L.Ed.2d 285 (1983); *Schwarzer, Dealing with*

*Incompetent Counsel — The Trial Judge's Role*, 93 Harv. L.Rev. 633, 652 (1980); cf. Wood v. Georgia, 450 U.S. 261, 272, 101 S.Ct. 1097, 1104, 67 L.Ed.2d 220 (1981) (holding that mere possibility of a conflict of interest triggers duty to inquire). The trial court must make the kind of inquiry that might ease the defendant's dissatisfaction, distrust, or concern. Hudson, 686 F.2d at 829. That inquiry should be on the record. Smith v. Lockhart, 923 F.2d 1314 (8th Cir. 1991).

An inquiry into the reasons for a defendant's dissatisfaction with his or her lawyer is necessary for the trial court to determine whether good cause for substitution of counsel exists. See United States v. Welty, 674 F.2d 185, 188 (3d Cir. 1982); United States v. Mullen, 32 F.3d 891 (4th Cir. 1994). A motion for new counsel filed as little as thirty-two days prior to trial has been deemed timely. See United States v. Mullen, 32 F.3d 891 (4th Cir. 1994). In this case the Appellant had timely filed a motion for new counsel on September 14, 2012, almost two months prior to the hearing. R. 69-70; Supp R. 1. Despite the timely motion, the matter was not brought before the court until the Appellant raised it in his pre-trial motion the week before the trial. R. 9. The trial court apparently did not have a copy of the motion during the hearing. R. 15. When it was raised by the Appellant the court refused to conduct an inquiry when informed that the motion had been filed by the Appellant. R. 15, l. 15-21. It was therefore error for the court to refuse to conduct a proper inquiry.

Despite the lack of a proper inquiry and resulting sparsity of record, through the Appellant's repeated attempts to raise the issue the record in pieces shows a number of reasons the Appellant was dissatisfied with appointed counsel. One of the Appellant's particular points of dissatisfaction with his counsel was counsel's intentional waiver of the Appellant's right to a preliminary hearing without the Appellant's knowledge or consent. Knowles admitted that she

had waived the Appellant's right to a preliminary hearing without the Appellant's consent and that it was her office policy to waive all preliminary hearings. R. 86, l. 20-R. 87, l. 1. The court denied the Appellant's motion to relieve appointed counsel on that basis. R. pp. 18; 87. The Appellant alleged other grounds for his dissatisfaction with his attorney, including the failure to obtain evidence relating to certain tape recordings which the State had transferred onto a CD for trial. R.18-20. Again the court did not allow the Appellant to complete his arguments, summarily cutting off the Appellant. R. 19-20. The Appellant appears to have been attempting to argue based on his attorney's handling of alleged discrepancies in the dates and times shown on video's and those indicated in the police reports. As it turns out, the discrepancy in the dates turned out to be a valid point that he later established during the trial. The Appellant went on to articulate additional grounds for his dissatisfaction with Knowles. R. 21-24.

An additional point of dissatisfaction was the attorney's handling of the issue involving the evidence seized from the search of the girlfriend's residence. R. 24-25. Apparently cartons of cigarettes which the State claimed came from the robbery had been photographed and the cartons returned to the store before the defense attorney took steps to inspect them. R. 24-26. The Appellant took issue with the loss of his ability to establish from the information on the packaging that the cartons did not come from the particular store involved in this case. R. 25. The court cut the Appellant off. R. 24, l. 15-18. Before the Appellant could finish his argument, the court stated that his position was "ridiculous" and "absurd". R. 25, l. 6-9.

The Appellant's dissatisfaction with his attorney continued and he raised the issue of removing Knowles again. R. 28. The Appellant informs the court that he has other issues, lost trust, and that there is no line of communication with her. R. 28. Knowles informed the court that

there was indeed a total break down in communication. R. 18; R. 38-39. One of the Appellant's many issues with Knowles was that in the year the case had been pending she had not interviewed the State's key witness in the case. R. 27. The court then indicates that trying to change lawyers is a common tactic at the last minute to try and put off a trial. 16. In response, the Appellant indicates that he has affidavits "in here" showing that he has been "trying to get rid of my lawyer from the beginning." R. 29, l. 1-2. When the Appellant insisted that he did not want Knowles as his lawyer the judge gives him three choices, to use her, to proceed *pro se*, or to hire his own attorney. R. 30. Although the Appellant wanted another lawyer appointed, when told that he can not have one, the Defenadant said unequivocally that if he can't have another lawyer, he'll be his own lawyer. R. 30, l. 15-18.

After some discussion the court finally acknowledged that the Appellant had the right to represent himself, but that Knowles would "sit" with him. R. 30, l. 23-19, l. 2. The court says to Knowles that the Appellant has that right, but once he starts representing himself, "he cannot later get you. You can sit there and advise him if you -- you understand that?" R. 31, l. 6-8.<sup>1</sup> The Appellant continued to express his dissatisfaction with being forced to have Knowles even participate based on his lack of trust in her. R. 31, l. 3.

There is a lot of discussion about whether the Appellant was *pro se* and that Knowles is "sitting" with him. R. 30-33. The court held that Knowles was still representing him because of the Appellant's statements that he didn't want to be *pro se*, he just didn't want Knowles. R. 32-33. Judge ruled that Knowles would continue until the Appellant said that he wanted to go *pro se*. R. 33. Knowles asked the judge to inquire of him again specifically what the Appellant wanted to

---

<sup>1</sup>This was incorrect as a self-represented defendant may at any time request counsel.

do, but the judge refused, stating that he would do that on the day of trial. R. 33. The judge said that he didn't want to fall into that trap. R. 33. Discussion continues with Knowles bearing some of the brunt of the court's comments. R. 33-36. The court ordered Knowles to continue and denied the Appellant the right to file his own motions. R. 36. The court then stated that it will hear the *Jackson v. Denno* motion and possibly some other motions. R. 38. The court then continued without ever having conducted a through inquiry. As a result it refused to substitute counsel or allow the Appellant to represent himself.

Particularly relevant are the court's comments to the jury after the verdict was rendered which reveal the lack of an unbiased decision in the court's consideration of the Appellant's motion. "Well I have a rule a defendant will accept the [Attorney] that the Court appoints or he can pay for his own lawyer or he can represent himself but I'm not going to let a defendant decide [for] me who his lawyer is." R. 423, l. 3-6.

Here, considering the timeliness of the Appellant's motion to substitute counsel and the total break-down in communication between Knowles and the Appellant, it was error for the trial court not to conduct a proper inquiry and substitute counsel.

## **II. THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED THE RIGHT TO SELF REPRESENTATION AT A CRITICAL STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS.**

Despite the Appellant's unequivocal statement that, given the choices he would proceed *pro se*, the pre-trial hearing continued to the *Jackson v. Denno* issue with Knowles representing. During the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing the Appellant attempted to make an objection. R. 45, l. 14-15. The judge told the Appellant to be quiet that instructed him that if he had a problem, to "take it through his lawyer." R. 46. The Appellant then responded that he had no communication with

Knowles and that “she was not his lawyer”. R. 45, l. 21-22. The Appellant subsequently stated repeatedly that he did not want Knowles and that he would represent himself. R. 46, l. 9-11. The court failed to conduct a *Faretta* hearing even though Knowles pointed that: “Your Honor, you said a minute ago that you would only remove me if he said on the record to you that he did not want me and he wanted to represent himself.” R. 28-30; R. 46. For some reason the court immediately responded that “I haven’t heard him say that.” R. 46, l. 19-20. Even the State asked that the court to conduct a proper inquiry on whether the Appellant wanted to waive his right to an attorney and proceed *pro se*. R. 47. The court still failed to conduct a *Faretta* hearing.

Knowles pointed out that the Appellant had stated “outright the wanted to represent himself.” R. 47, l. 16-17. Again, no *Faretta* inquiry was made, instead, the court berated Knowles as “trying to get out” of the case, told her that she was raising her voice, and that he was leaving her in the case. R. 47. 19-20. Without further inquiry, the court ruled that it wouldn’t allow the Appellant to represent himself until the trial. R. 47. The judge stated that “At the appropriate time, if he wants to represent himself, I’ll deal with it. *I’m not gonna deal with it until this Jackson v. Denno hearing is over.*” R. 47, l. 23-36, l. 3.

During the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing the Appellant, in an attempt to represent himself, tried to raise an issue with one of the recordings. R. 57. The Appellant was again instructed by the court to talk to Knowles. R. 57. The Appellant stated again that he would represent himself. 45. Ignoring the Appellant and addressing only Knowles, the court stated that she would continue representing the Appellant. R. 57. The Appellant stated in no uncertain terms that repeatedly that he wanted to represent himself:

The Court: Please -- Ms. Knowles, let me say this to you. This is a serious case. In spite of him, I want you to continue in the case---

Mr. Mazique: I want to represent myself.  
The Court: Ms. Knowles, you will continue to represent him --  
Mr. Mazique: I want to represent myself.  
The Court: --- and continue to prepare for trial. If next week, he wants to represent himself, I'm gonna give him that opportunity.  
Mr. Mazique: I want to represent myself at this hearing right now.  
The Court: But I want you to prepare him for trial and do everything you can to ---  
Mr. Mazique: This is a crucial part of my trial. This is pretrial ---  
The Court: If he wants to represent -- he wants to represent himself ---  
Mr. Mazique: ---and I want to represent myself right now. I don't want her representing me.

R. 57, l. 20-R. 58, l. 15;

Knowles reiterated to the court: "He wants to represent himself --. R. 59, l. 12. Refusing to conduct an inquiry the court stated: "I'm not going to do that now. I want him to have a lawyer under these technical issues." R. 59, l. 15-16. Although Knowles pointed out that the Appellant wanted to represent himself and question the witness the court still refused: "No, I'm not going to permit that at this time. Have a seat; let's proceed." R. 59, l. 20-21. The court in no uncertain terms refused to conduct a *Faretta* hearing or allow the Appellant to represent himself or question the witness. R. 59.

Several times during the remainder of the hearing the Appellant attempted to act in his own defense, but was ordered to sit down and be quiet. R. 63-64. The Appellant was not allowed to question the officer and the court asked Knowles if she wanted to "inquire as to authenticity?" R. 65, l. 4-5. Knowles asked two questions and quit. R. 65. The Appellant attempted to continue the inquiry but was ignored, and the court instructed the witness to step down from the stand. R. 65.

Again the Appellant asked specifically if the court was going to allow him to represent himself at trial, why couldn't he represent himself at this hearing to lay the foundation for his

apparent objection. R. 66. And again, the court expressly stated that it was “not gonna do it at this time.” R. 66. To which the Appellant stated that the court was letting him know “that this whole hearing was a sham.” R. 66, l. 19-20. The Appellant explained to the court that he wanted to represent himself at the pretrial hearing because it was the most important part of the trial: “You Honor, and I’m asking you, you say you’re trying to help me and I’m telling -- I’m explaining to you, I understand the law. I understand that the pretrial proceeding is the most important part of the trial.” R. 66, l. 16-19. The court still refused to conduct a *Faretta* hearing.

At the end of the pre-trial hearing the court inquired of the Appellant’s attorney when she first learned that the Appellant did not want her to represent him. R. 69. During this questioning by the court as to what would be attorney client privilege, the Appellant was saying: “Don’t do that. Don’t do that.” R. 69, l. 6. The court asked if it was “Last night?” R. 69, l. 7. Knowles said that she knew the last time that she met with the Appellant, which was “the last time we spoke last month.” R. 69, l. 4-5. Apparently, a motion to relieve counsel had been filed at least one month, and as much as two months, earlier. R. 69-70. Clearly not a last minute stall tactic.

A week later, on the day of trial, the Appellant again insisted on representing himself. 8. The court finally inquired about self-representation, citing State v. Bryant. R. 82-85. The Appellant’s right to proceed *pro se* was discussed, and the judge gave the Appellant adequate warnings as to self-representation. R. 103. The judge told the Appellant that he does not know the law of evidence, hearsay or what is admissible or not admissible, and that representing himself was pure “folly”. R. 104-105. Given the alternative between having the two lawyers that were present or self-representation, the Appellant again insisted on self-representation. R. 105. The Court inquired if Appellant wanted help picking jury. R. 108. The Appellant declined help

from the two attorneys and proceeded to represent himself throughout the jury strike process. R. 108.

Then, despite having struck his own jury, the Appellant was again denied the right to self-representation when the second attorney sitting as stand-by counsel interjected a response waiving any objection by the defense to the selection of the jury. R. 131, l. 11. The jury composition subsequently changed when one alternate juror was excused. Shortly thereafter, and still before the jury was sworn, the Appellant raised a Batson challenge.<sup>2</sup> R. 137-138. The court refused to conduct a Batson hearing based on there having been no objection made. R. 138. Stand-by counsel's unwanted participation and waiver of the Appellant's right to a Batson hearing therefore prevented the Appellant from challenging the composition of the jury.

The Sixth Amendment guarantees criminal defendants the right to representation by counsel at every critical stage of the prosecution. Turner v. Calderon, 281 F.3d 851, 879 (9th Cir. 2002). The Sixth Amendment right to counsel extends to all critical stages of a criminal proceeding. *See, e.g.*, Missouri v. Frye, 132 S.Ct. 1399, 1405 (2012); Lafler v. Cooper, 132 S.Ct. 1376, 1385 (2012); Smith v. Murray, 477 U.S. 527, 535-36 (1986). A critical stage of trial is "any stage that may significantly affect the outcome of the proceedings" Traylor v. State, 596 So.2d 957, 968 (Fla.1992).

The Sixth Amendment further guarantees every criminal defendant the "right to proceed without counsel when he voluntarily and intelligently elects to do so." State v. Barnes, 27322 (S.C. 1-15-2014) *citing* Faretta, 422 U.S. at 807. Faretta established that a defendant has an independent fundamental right guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States

---

<sup>2</sup> Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986).

Constitution, applicable to the States through the Fourteenth Amendment, to represent himself at all stages of criminal proceedings if he elects to do so. A trial court cannot force a defendant to accept counsel or refuse to dismiss a court appointed counsel if the defendant elects to represent himself. *See Parker v. State*, 1976 OK CR 293.

In addition to the Sixth Amendment, the right to represent one's self is also protected by the South Carolina Constitution. The South Carolina Constitution provides that every criminal defendant has the right to represent himself and makes no distinction between capital and non-capital defendants. S.C. Const., art. 1, § 14; State v. Brewer, 328 S.C. 117, 492 S.E.2d 97 (1997). Additionally, the United States Supreme Court has interpreted the United States Constitution as providing a right to self-representation. *See Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 821, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975) ("The Sixth Amendment, when naturally read, thus implies a right of self-representation."). State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590 (2010). *See also: McKaskle v. Wiggins*, 465 U.S. 168, 104 S.Ct. 944, 79 L.Ed.2d 122 (1984).

Here, although the court indicated several times that the Appellant was entitled to represent himself, it refused to conduct a proper Faretta hearing, or allow him to represent himself at the pre-trial stage of the case. Then at trial the Court further denied the Appellant the right to self-representation by allowing stand-by counsel to actively participate and waive the Appellant's right to challenge the composition of the jury at the end of the jury selection process. In doing so the Court forced a mixed representation against the Appellant's wishes which resulted in the loss of the Appellant's right to a Batson hearing.

While the court may have thought that it was "folly" for the Appellant to represent himself, it was clearly the Appellant's right to do so. And, as can be seen from the record, when a

proper inquiry was conducted, the court found the Appellant sufficiently capable of conducting his own defense. There was therefore, no basis on which to deny his right to conduct his own defense at the pretrial stage case or to allow stand-by counsel to participate at the trial over the Appellant's wishes.

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