ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-000307

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

MARQUIS DELLAN EVANS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

Kevin S. Brackett
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway
York, SC 29745
(803) 628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

FEB 03 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The circuit court gathered sufficient information and provided ample warnings about the dangers of proceeding *pro se* before granting Appellant's motion to relieve his court appointed counsel and proceed *pro se*.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State concurs with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 21, 2016, the York County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Marquis Dellan Evans on one count of failure to stop for a blue light and one count of resisting arrest arising from an incident on June 21, 2015. The case was called for a jury trial on February 8, 2016, before the Honorable John C. Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

Pre-trial, Appellant's counsel advised the court Appellant was unhappy with her representation. The court inquired and learned Appellant was thirty-eight years old and had obtained his GED. When the court inquired about Appellant's employment status, Appellant said "I work at - -," but did not finish the answer. (Trial Transcript [TT], p. 4; Record on Appeal [R.], p. 4).

Appellant's counsel stated she took the case over at the beginning of the year, and the solicitor informed her the case would be put on the trial docket. Counsel immediately tried to locate Appellant, even going out to his residence in Lancaster County, but was unable to make contact with him. (TT, p. 5; R., pp. 5).

Based on information she received in Lancaster County, counsel and her investigator went to a location in Rock Hill, and finally located Appellant. He met with counsel in her office, and she relayed a plea proposal from the solicitor, but he was not happy with the offer, which counsel stated "kind of set us on a bad course." (TT, p. 5; R., p. 5).

Counsel further stated her office provided Appellant copies of the discovery several months prior to trial and she talked to him on the phone several times. She described the conversations as "terse," and indicated Appellant hung up on her a couple of times the week before trial. He requested another copy of discovery the Friday before trial, and even though her office had previously provided the discovery to him, she personally drove another copy of the discovery to his home that day. She informed the court Appellant wanted to make "a number of

informed the court Appellant wanted to make “a number of motions that [she didn’t] believe have as much legal merit as he does.” (TT, pp. 5-7; R., pp. 5-7).

The court then addressed Appellant, inquiring whether he wanted to relieve his counsel, and Appellant stated he did. The court asked Appellant if he understood relieving his counsel meant he would not have an attorney and he would be going to trial on his own without an attorney. Appellant responded “yes, sir.” (TT, p. 8, R., p. 8).

The court further asked Appellant “you’re telling me now that even though you ask for an attorney and you got a competent attorney appointed that you choose to represent yourself as opposed to be represented by the attorney the State’s paying,” and Appellant again indicated he wanted to represent himself. The court then advised Appellant “it’s dangerous for you to represent yourself and there is a benefit in having an attorney because an attorney knows the things to bring to the Court’s attention and knows the motions and how to try a case.” Appellant indicated he understood, and still wanted counsel relieved from representing him. (TT, p. 8; R., p. 8).

The court granted the motion to relieve counsel, but ordered the appointed counsel to remain as standby counsel to assist Appellant with any questions regarding procedure. The court also advised Appellant the trial would start the next day, and if he did not appear, the trial would proceed without him. (TT, pp. 9-10; R., pp. 9-10).

Appellant asked about getting his witnesses to testify on his behalf, and the court ordered standby counsel to assist Appellant in getting his witnesses subpoenaed. Appellant then indicated he just got the discovery the Friday before trial so he had not had time to go over what he wanted to say at trial. Counsel informed the court her office gave Appellant a copy of the document discovery several months before the case was called for trial, and she gave him a copy of the

video approximately two weeks before trial. When he asked for an additional copy the Friday before trial, she personally delivered it to his house. The court found Appellant had sufficient time for discovery. (TT, pp. 10-12; R., pp. 10-12).

When the trial commenced the next day, the court reminded Appellant he had exercised his right to proceed without counsel even though he was advised it was dangerous, and inquired whether Appellant still wanted to proceed without counsel. Appellant stated he would like to have a different attorney because he did not know what he was doing. The court stated:

Well, I know you don't. That's why I told you yesterday it was dangerous for you to fire your attorney, but you insisted on doing it. I didn't think it was very wise, but whether I think it was wise or not in my eyes now it's up to you to determine whether you're doing something wise. Ms. Lipinski's here. I'll allow her to continue to represent you if she doesn't have any objection to that as she was prepared yesterday. But you've indicated you do not want her to represent you so we're sort of in the land of – Well, we're sort of in a situation where you put yourself in a situation that's going to require you to either us Ms. Lipinski but you don't want to do, or represent yourself, which I told you doesn't really make sense to me, but that's your choice.

(TT, pp. 14-15; R., pp. 14-15). Appellant indicated he wanted to proceed with standby counsel.

(TT, p. 15; R., p. 15).

After some discussion regarding mental health professionals Appellant wanted to call as witnesses, Appellant requested a continuance so he “could get prepared.” The court responded: “[t]hat's why you need a lawyer cause you don't know how to prepare. The state hired one for you that didn't satisfy you, so.” (TT, pp. 15-18; R., pp. 15-18). The court then explained the jury selection and trial process to Appellant. (TT, pp. 18-23; R., pp. 18-23). Appellant participated in jury selection, exercising all his preemptory strikes. (TT, pp. 24-38; R., pp. 24-38).

During his opening statement, Appellant claimed he was “profiled” and started to talk about “what's going on like in the cities or anything like that, but you know, we died about the

weeks (sic) almost like at an alarming rate.” The solicitor objected, and the court sustained the objection. Appellant then stated:

Well it basically this is what I felt. This is why I’m taking a jury trial. This is my life and I know I’m facing fifteen years for this. But as you can see in this video that I was complying with the law. I was driving – you can see I’m driving with blinkers on and everything. And basically y’all (sic) have to say and you will see that basically its profiling. It’s a profile thing.

(TT, pp. 45-46; R., pp. 45-46).

Investigator Robert Smith of the Rock Hill Police Department testified he observed Appellant driving on the evening of June 21, 2015, and had reason to believe Appellant was impaired. Appellant did not stop when Smith turned on the blue lights of his patrol vehicle, but ultimately stopped when he got hemmed in by parked cars. Appellant resisted when he got out of the car, and another officer had to use the tazer on Appellant in order to get him under control. (TT, pp. 47-61; R., pp. 47-61).

Appellant cross-examined Smith extensively, questioning him about the basis for the traffic stop, when the blue lights were activated, why Smith approached the vehicle with his gun drawn, and various aspects of the video from Smith’s patrol car camera. He also attempted to question Smith about high profile cases involving white officers shooting black suspects, but the court sustained the State’s objection. (TT, pp. 62-82; R., pp. 62-82).

The other officer at the scene testified about the circumstances of Smith’s traffic stop of Appellant’s vehicle, and the subsequent struggle. Appellant also cross-examined him extensively, and attempted to ask him about white police officers killing unarmed black people, but the court again sustained the State’s objection. (TT, pp. 83-97; R., pp. 83-97).

After the State rested its case, Appellant's standby counsel raised the issue of a juror appearing to sleep during the testimony. After a discussion regarding the juror, Appellant moved for a mistrial, which the court denied, finding the juror had only closed her eyes because they were irritated by fumes from construction in the courthouse, and there was no manifest necessity for a mistrial. (TT, pp. 100-115; R., pp. 100-115).

Prior to closing statements, Appellant "renewed" his pre-trial motion for more time to prepare, claiming he only had from Friday to Monday to prepare for trial. The court found Appellant had ample time to prepare, and he had an obligation to give his court appointed counsel all the information she needed to get ready for trial. The court also reminded Appellant he had been advised it was dangerous to proceed to trial without counsel, but Appellant chose to go forward *pro se*. (TT, pp. 125-128; R., pp. 125-128). The court also denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict. (TT, pp. 132-133; R., pp.132-133).

During his closing argument, Appellant went over the testimony of the officers, pointing out what he believed were inconsistencies. He also talked about the video of the traffic stop, and his belief the traffic stop was illegal. (TT, pp. 139-142; R., pp. 139-142).

The jury convicted Appellant of both charges. (TT, pp. 155-157; R., pp. 155-157). While imposing sentence, the circuit court noted Appellant was "a pretty bright man," and sentenced him to concurrent sentences of three years on the failure to stop conviction, and eight years on the resisting arrest charge. (TT, pp. 163-164; R., pp. 163-164). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court gathered sufficient information and provided ample warnings to Appellant about the dangers of proceeding *pro se* before granting Appellant's motion to relieve his court appointed counsel and proceed *pro se*.

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in allowing him to proceed *pro se* without engaging in a prophylactic inquiry under Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). When the record is viewed as a whole, however, it is clear Appellant understood the risk of proceeding *pro se*, and ultimately tried to use the relief of his counsel as a basis to delay the trial.

“A South Carolina criminal defendant has the constitutional right to represent himself under both the federal and state constitutions.” State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014). The trial judge must ensure the defendant is informed of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, and makes a knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to counsel. *Id.*

Citing Barnes and State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 698 S.E.2d 604 (2010), Appellant contends the circuit court’s inquiry in this case was constitutionally deficient. He cites no authority indicating the waiver of counsel dialog must follow any particular script, or contain particular phrases. While the court’s inquires in this case may not have been as detailed as the inquiries in Barnes and Starnes, which were capital murder cases, the inquiries were sufficient. In addition to determining Appellant’s age and education level, the court was aware of the issues with the appointed counsel, and was able to observe Appellant’s demeanor and ability to present his case coherently.¹

¹The court did inquire about Appellant’s employment status, and Appellant stated “I work at . . .” (TT, p. 4; R., p. 4). While the record does not reflect he completed the statement, his limited response does indicate he was employed as of the date of trial.

The court also advised Appellant that proceeding without counsel was “dangerous,” and there were benefits to having counsel. In the face of that warning, Appellant expressly stated he wanted the court to relieve counsel. The court then ordered appointed counsel to remain as standby counsel, and explained to Appellant counsel would be seated behind him during the trial and available to assist him with any procedural issues. (TT, pp. 8-9; R., pp. 8-9).

After an overnight recess, the court again inquired whether Appellant wanted to proceed *pro se*. Appellant stated he wanted a different attorney, but indicated he would proceed with counsel serving as standby counsel.² (TT, pp. 14-15; R., pp. 14-15).

Ultimately, Appellant asked for a continuance so he could “get prepared,” even though the record indicates he had copies of all the discovery materials at least two weeks before the case was called for trial. Further, his appointed counsel reported the difficulty getting in touch with Appellant, and he even hung up on her several times during the week before trial. (TT, pp. 5-7, 18-19; R., pp. 5-7, 18-19).

Thus, to the extent Appellant was unprepared, it was the result of his own conduct, and he was not entitled to delay the trial due to his self-representation. *See State v. Mazique*, Appellant Case No. 2012-213631, 2016 WL 6092072, at *3 (S.C. Ct. App. Oct. 19, 2016) (right of self-representation does not exist to be used as a tactic to delay, disrupt, distort or manipulate the trial process, and the trial court must be permitted to distinguish between a manipulative effort to present particular arguments, and a sincere desire to dispense with the benefits of counsel). The record indicates delay was Appellant’s motive for relieving his court appointed counsel, and the circuit court recognized it as such.

²Counsel had already done considerable work for Appellant by getting certain witnesses subpoenaed during the overnight recess.

Finally, Appellant's performance during the trial, particularly his statement regarding the sentence he was facing and his cross-examination of the two officers, showed Appellant was intelligent and he understood the judicial system well enough to make a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel. He also was able to get his "profiling" theory before the jury even though the court had ruled it was inadmissible.

The record amply supports the circuit court's decision to grant Appellant's motion to relieve his court-appointed counsel and proceed *pro se*. Appellant was advised such a decision was dangerous and he would be better served by allowing counsel to represent him, but he chose to stick with his decision, even after having an opportunity to reconsider during the overnight recess. Accordingly, Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.